COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE
Monday, January 13, 2014
7:00 p.m.
City Hall Council Chambers
109 James Street
Geneva, IL 60134
AGENDA
1.

Call to Order

2.

Consider Consent Agenda

*3.

Approve Committee of the Whole Minutes from December 9, 2013.

4.

Items of Business

a.

Recommend Acceptance of Nov. 1, 2013 Strategic Planning Workshop Report as
Presented.
Recommend Draft Resolution Authorizing Easement Agreement with Burgess Norton Plant
1 and Office Building.
Recommend Draft Resolution Authorizing Bid Award and Contract with Accurate Edge
Landscape Service Inc. for 2014 and 2015 Cemetery Landscape Maintenance.
Recommend Draft Resolution Authorizing Bid Award and Contract with Professional
Cemetery Services for 2014 and 2015 Cemetery Burial Services.
Recommend Approval of Amendments to All Applicable Sections of the Geneva City Code
Related to Consolidation of Plan Commission and Zoning Board of Appeals Effective May
1, 2014.

b.
c.
d.
e.

5.

New Business

6.

Upcoming Meetings: Committee of the Whole: January 27, 2014.

7.

Adjournment

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MINUTES
DECEMBER 9, 2013
PRESENT:

Mayor Burns, Ald. Brown, Bruno, Cummings, Flanagan, Kilburg, Maladra, Marks, Simonian, Singer

ABSENT:

Ald. Vogelsberg

Also Present:

McKittrick, Dawkins, Dahl, Divita, Dinges, Evans, Buffington

1.

Call to Order

Chairman Simonian called the meeting to order at 7:00pm noting that Ald. Vogelsberg was absent.
2.

Consider Consent Agenda

Moved by Ald. Kilburg, second by Ald. Bruno
*3.

V/V: 9-0

Motion carried.

Approve Committee of the Whole Minutes from November 25, 2013 and Special Committee of the Whole Minutes from
December 2, 2013.

Approved on consent agenda.
4.

Items of Business

a.

Recommend Draft Resolution Authorizing Execution of Agreement for Rebidding & Construction Engineering for Third Level of
Commuter Parking Facility.

Moved by Ald. Marks, second by Ald. Maladra
General discussion on timing of construction and number and types of parking spaces was heard.
V/V: 9-0
b.

Motion carried.
Recommend Draft Resolution Authorizing First Amendment to Transportation and Balancing Agreement with NICOR Gas
Company.

Motion by Ald. Singer, second by Ald. Cummings
Supt. Buffington stated that the only change to the agreement was for the services of weather forecasting.
V/V: 9-0
c.

Motion carried.
Recommend Draft Resolution Authorizing Execution of Contract with Accurate Edge Landscaping for SSA #5 Snow & Ice
Removal.

Moved by Ald. Singer, second by Ald. Flanagan
Ald. Singer provided background on the specific area in close proximity to Williamsburg School where snow removal was not occurring.
There was discussion on philosophy of providing this service to all schools and the potential costs involved. Ald. Brown was concerned
about the affected taxpayers not receiving due notice of this SSA fee.
V/V: 8-1 (Brown)

Motion carried.
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d.

Recommend Draft Resolution Authorizing Agreement for Auditing Services with Sikich LLP for FY2014 through FY2017.

Moved by Ald. Brown, second by Ald. Marks
On a question from Ald. Simonian, Finance Manager Dahl noted that using the new accounting software has made the audit process
more streamlined for both the city and auditor.
V/V: 9-0
e.

Motion carried.
Recommend Draft Ordinances for 2013 General Corporate and Special Service Area Tax Levies.

Moved by Ald. Singer, second by Ald. Marks
f.

V/V: 9-0

Motion carried.

Authorize Staff to Release Request for Proposal for Downtown TIF District Eligibility Study and Preparation of a
Redevelopment Plan and Project.

Moved by Ald. Singer, second by Ald. Bruno
Dir. Divita reviewed the request for the study, noting that by doing so the City would be complying with state law in going forward with
further investigation of the potential TIF district. Discussion on other options (bonds) was heard. At the request of Ald. Maladra, Divita
stated she would review the exact map in regard to Opportunity Site 6 properties.
V/V: 9-0
g.

Motion carried.
Recommend Draft Resolution Expressing Official Intent Regarding Certain Expenditures to be Reimbursed from the Special
Tax Allocation Fund and/or From Proceeds of Debt Issued, if any, In Connection with a Proposed Tax Increment Financing
District.

Moved by Ald. Cummings, second by Ald. Marks
h.

V/V: 9-0

Recommend Draft Resolution Declaring Surplus Property and Sale or Demolition of Property Located at 526 S. Fourth Street.

Moved by Ald. Marks, second by Ald. Cummings
i.

V/V: 9-0

Motion carried.

Recommend Draft Resolution Declaring Surplus Property for the Sale of Approximately 8.57 Acres at Lewis Road; PIN 12-08200-072.

Moved by Ald. Flanagan, second by Ald. Marks
5.

Motion carried.

V/V: 9-0

Motion carried.

New Business

Ald. Simonian congratulated the Batavia High School Bulldog football team on their recent State 6A Championship win.
6.

Adjournment

On a motion by Ald. Marks, second by Ald. Cummings, the meeting was adjourned by unanimous voice vote at 7:56pm.
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AGENDA ITEM EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Agenda Item:

Strategic Planning Workshop Prioritized Goals Report

Presenter & Title:

Stephanie K. Dawkins, Assistant City Administrator

Date:

January 13, 2014

Please Check Appropriate Box:
X Committee of the Whole Meeting
X City Council Meeting
Public Hearing

Special Committee of the Whole Meeting
Special City Council Meeting
Other -

Estimated Cost: N/A

Budgeted?

N/A

YES
NO

If NO, please explain how the item will be funded:
Executive Summary:
The attached document includes a report of the November 1, 2013 Strategic Planning
Workshop including the prioritized goals as established by the City Council at that
Workshop. The updated Strategic Plan document will be brought forward for Council
consideration at a later date.
Attachments: (please list)


November 1, 2013 Strategic Planning Workshop Prioritized Goal Report

Recommendation / Suggested Action: (briefly explain)
Recommend approval of the November 1, 2013 Strategic Planning Workshop Report as
presented.

City of Geneva
City Administrator’s Office
To:

Mayor Burns and Members of the City Council

From:

Stephanie K. Dawkins, Assistant City Administrator

Date:

January 13, 2014

Re:

Follow Up Report on 11/01/13 Strategic Planning Workshop

Mayor Burns and Members of the City Council:
To begin this year’s budget process, the City Council, Department Heads, and the SPAC Chairman
met on Friday, November 1, 2013 for the annual Strategic Planning Workshop. The workshop
focused on updating the Strategic Plan for 2017. The updated plan will reflect the ever-evolving
economic and environmental conditions, as well as the completion, addition, or elimination of
goals. It is anticipated that the updated plan will be presented to Council later this month for
formal approval and adoption.
After reviewing and discussing goals and objectives, the Mayor, Aldermen, and SPAC Chairman
were asked to vote for five (5) goals/objectives in priority order. This ranking will be used by staff
to develop departmental goals and objectives as well as projects in the budget for FY 2014-2015.
The results of the voting established four levels of priority. Priority One Goals & Objectives
received three (3), four (4), five (5), or six (6) votes; Priority Two Goals & Objectives received
two (2) votes; and Priority Three Goals & Objectives received one (1) vote each; and Goals &
Objectives Prioritized but no vote tally. The following tables reflect the results of the voting that
took place.

A.

B.

C.

D.

E.

F.

G.

PRIORITY ONE GOALS & OBJECTIVES
VISION #
GOAL
VOTES
Encourage development of the
Vision #2. Maintain, sustain, and
former Geneva Bottling Works
enhance the character, vibrancy,
property, Geneva Dam projects,
6
uniqueness, and desirability of our various
and encourage redevelopment of
business districts and corridors.
the Mill Race Restaurant property.
Vision #6. Facilitate, encourage, and
promote environmental awareness, natural Continue to take a proactive role
assets, energy efficiency, and open space
in the Settlers Hill development
5
as central community values for policy
Plans.
and operations.
Educate and communicate to
Vision #1. Recognize, honor, preserve,
Council and citizens the benefits
and enhance community heritage and
4
of Home Rule and perhaps begin
character.
working towards its adoption.
Vision #1. Recognize, honor, preserve,
and enhance community heritage and
Annex the County Judicial Center.
3
character.
Develop a citizen’s academy to
Vision #3. Encourage, foster, and
cultivate awareness of local
facilitate the ongoing strength of
government functions, ways of
3
community participation and commitment
participating, and understanding
to public affairs.
of issues.
Vision #4. Promote and amplify
community unity and diversity through
Develop a plan for the creation of
3
actions and programs that encourage
affordable/attainable housing.
inclusion, vitality, and wholeness.
Establish and adopt a capital
Vision #5. Manage City resources and
funding plan in next 24 months,
assets to effectively and efficiently deliver
so that infrastructure projects
core services, provide for capital
3
(repair, replacement, and new) can
investment, and meet community needs
be scheduled, tracked, and
and desires.
monitored.

A.

B.

C.

D.

E.

F.

G.

PRIORITY TWO GOALS & OBJECTIVES
VISION #
GOAL
Vision #4. Promote and amplify
community unity and diversity through
Encourage higher density infill in
actions and programs that encourage
core parts of Geneva.
inclusion, vitality, and wholeness.
Vision #5. Manage City resources and
Consider/evaluate sales tax
assets to effectively and efficiently deliver revisions for capital
core services, provide for capital
improvements and projects that
investment, and meet community needs
enhance Downtown Business
and desires.
district.
Develop and provide funding for
capital investments and projects
that consider a variety of local
capital needs sand those mandated
Vision #5. Manage City resources and
by State/Federal Agencies
assets to effectively and efficiently deliver including: a regular vehicle
core services, provide for capital
replacement schedule for all City
investment, and meet community needs
vehicles; equipment for the
and desires.
Emergency Operations Center
(EOC); other identified capital
projects and equipment for all
departments and programs
(Capital Projects Plan).
Vision #5. Manage City resources and
Initiate a long range planning
assets to effectively and efficiently deliver
effort to optimize timing, funding,
core services, provide for capital
and location options for
investment, and meet community needs
anticipated public facility needs.
and desires.
Vision #5. Manage City resources and
Secure emergency
assets to effectively and efficiently deliver
communications by establishing a
core services, provide for capital
redundant connection to the
investment, and meet community needs
present fiber optic line.
and desires.
Vision #6. Facilitate, encourage, and
Support and expand the city’s
promote environmental awareness, natural
beautification efforts including
assets, energy efficiency, and open space
curb-side landscaping using City
as central community values for policy
funds and other funding sources.
and operations.
Vision #7. Encourage and promote a
Enhance pedestrian and bike
variety of mobility options that promote
safety via installation of traffic
an efficient and varied transportation
signals and other techniques at
system.
identified locations.

VOTES
2

2

2

2

2

2

2

A.

B.

C.

D.

E.

F.

G.

H.

I.

PRIORITY THREE GOALS & OBJECTIVES
VISION #
GOAL
Vision #1. Recognize, honor, preserve,
Annex the Kane County Events
and enhance community heritage and
Center.
character.
Explore regulations and resources
Vision #1. Recognize, honor, preserve,
that examine preservation and
and enhance community heritage and
rehabilitation of historic
character.
properties.
Vision #2. Maintain, sustain, and
enhance the character, vibrancy,
Explore the extension of diagonal
uniqueness, and desirability of our various parking on West State Street.
business districts and corridors.
Vision #2. Maintain, sustain, and
Explore the use of incentives to
enhance the character, vibrancy,
promote economic development
uniqueness, and desirability of our various
or private-public partnerships.
business districts and corridors.
Consider economic incentives to
Vision #2. Maintain, sustain, and
place downtown Geneva in a
enhance the character, vibrancy,
competitive advantage during site
uniqueness, and desirability of our various selection and provide for
business districts and corridors.
additional housing opportunities
within the downtown district.
Promote and influence the
retention of existing public
Vision #2. Maintain, sustain, and
services (City Hall, Geneva
enhance the character, vibrancy,
Library, Kane County Courts, and
uniqueness, and desirability of our various
Administration, U.S. Post Office)
business districts and corridors.
within the downtown business
district.
Vision #5. Manage City resources and
assets to effectively and efficiently deliver Develop the necessary
core services, provide for capital
infrastructure for a S.E. Industrial
investment, and meet community needs
Park.
and desires.
Develop and finalize plans for
Vision #5. Manage City resources and
new/updated City Hall and
assets to effectively and efficiently deliver
Library facilities. Work to
core services, provide for capital
address space needs and construct
investment, and meet community needs
a new City Hall for present and
and desires.
future needs.
Vision #6. Facilitate, encourage, and
promote environmental awareness, natural Begin exploration of a joint Fox
assets, energy efficiency, and open space
River/Dam initiative with Batavia
as central community values for policy
and St. Charles.
and operations.

VOTES
1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

Vision #6. Facilitate, encourage, and
promote environmental awareness, natural
J. assets, energy efficiency, and open space
as central community values for policy
and operations.
Vision #7. Encourage and promote a
variety of mobility options that promote
K.
an efficient and varied transportation
system.

Investigate the use of Fox River
for hydro-power.

1

Work with the Union Pacific
Railroad to construct a pedestrian
walkway over Route 31 to access
the train station.

1

PRIORITY GOALS & OBJECTIVES WITH NO VOTE TALLY
VISION #
GOAL
Vision #7. Encourage and promote a
variety of mobility options that promote
Investigate Route 31 Road Diet
A.
an efficient and varied transportation
Improvements
system.

VOTES
N/A

AGENDA ITEM EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Agenda Item:

Easement for Burgess-Norton Plant 1 and Office Building

Presenter & Title:

Mike Buffington, Superintendent of Electrical Services

Date:

January 8, 2014

Please Check Appropriate Box:
X Committee of the Whole Meeting
X City Council Meeting
Public Hearing

Special Committee of the Whole Meeting
Special City Council Meeting
Other -

Estimated Cost: $10 per easement

Budgeted?

X

YES
NO

If NO, please explain how the item will be funded:

Executive Summary:
The attached easement the City requested of the property owner to cover a proposed
electric line to provide an additional service to 737 Peyton Street.
Attachments: (please list)
 The following easement document was received and is attached:
Burgess-Norton Mfg. Co., Inc.

Recommendation / Suggested Action: (briefly explain)
Recommend to City Council to approve resolution to sign and record easements.

RESOLUTION NO. 2014-__
RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING EXECUTION OF
Easement for Electric Distribution at Burgess Norton Plant 1 and Office

WHEREAS, it is necessary to install certain underground electric cables; and
WHEREAS, the installation of electric cables requires the procurement of an underground
electric utility easement from Burgess-Norton Mfg. Co., Inc.
BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GENEVA, KANE
COUNTY, ILLINOIS, as follows:

SECTION 1:

That the Mayor and City Clerk are hereby authorized to execute, on behalf

of the City of Geneva, one (1) easement from Burgess-Norton Mfg. Co., Inc a copy of which is
attached hereto.

SECTION 2: This Resolution shall become effective from and after its passage as in
accordance with law.
PASSED by the City Council of the City of Geneva, Kane County, Illinois, this 21st day of
January, 2014.

AYES: __

NAYS: __ ABSENT: __

ABSTAINING: __

HOLDING OFFICE: __

Approved by me this ____ day of __________, 2014.

Mayor
ATTEST:

City Clerk

AGENDA ITEM EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Agenda Item:

2014 and 2015 Cemetery Landscape Maintenance Contract

Presenter & Title:

Chris Bong, Superintendent of Streets

Date: 2-3-14
Please Check Appropriate Box:
x Committee of the Whole Meeting
x City Council Meeting
Public Hearing

Special Committee of the Whole Meeting
Special City Council Meeting
Other -

Estimated Cost: $23,500 for 2014, 3%
Budgeted?
increase for 2015
If NO, please explain how the item will be funded:

x

YES
NO

Executive Summary:
This is the contract for landscape maintenance for the Oak Hill and West Side
Cemeteries. This contract is primarily for lawn mowing, weed whipping and mulch bed
maintenance. We have hired an outside landscaper for the past 2 years and it has really
worked well. This contract would be for 2014 with a 3% increase for 2015. We
received 2 bids for this contract. The low bidder was Accurate Edge Landscape
Services Inc. Accurate Edge is currently under contract for the landscape maintenance
of Geneva’s miscellaneous properties and they have performed well under that
contract. The bid price from Accurate Edge is actually about 8% lower than the
previous cemetery contract.
Attachments: (please list)
• Summary of Bids
• Resolution
Recommendation / Suggested Action: (briefly explain)
Staff respectfully recommends awarding the 2014 and 2015 Cemetery Landscape
Maintenance contract to Accurate Edge Landscape Services Inc. in the yearly amount
of $23,500 for 2014 and with a 3% increase for 2015 at the January 21, 2014 City
Council meeting.

RESOLUTION NO. 2014-__
RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING EXECUTION OF
_______

2014 and 2015 Cemetery Landscape Maintenance Contract_____

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GENEVA, KANE
COUNTY, ILLINOIS, as follows:
SECTION 1:

That the City Administrator is hereby authorized to execute, on behalf of

the City of Geneva, 2014 and 2015 Cemetery Landscape Maintenance Contract
___________________, in the form attached hereto at Exhibit “A”.
SECTION 2: This Resolution shall become effective from and after its passage as in
accordance with law.
PASSED by the City Council of the City of Geneva, Kane County, Illinois, this 3rd
of February
AYES: __

day

, 2014
NAYS: __ ABSENT: __

ABSTAINING: __

HOLDING OFFICE: __

Approved by me this ____ day of __________, 2014.

City Administrator

City of Geneva
Summary of Bids

Name of Project: 20141 Cemetery Landscape
Maintenance and Burial

Recorded By: T. Dahl

Opened By: T. Dahl

Date/Time: 1-7-14 11am

Approved Engineer Estimate/ Budget :
CONTRACTOR NAME

Professional Cemetery Services
West Side
Oak Hill area 1
Oak Hill area 2+3
Adult Burial
Cremain
Landscape Total =
Accurate Edge

West Side
Oak Hill area 1
Oak Hill area 2+3
Landscape Total =

2014 BID PRICE

2015 BID PRICE

$
$
$
$
$
$

4,900
6,000
26,400
600 $
300 $
37,300

$
$
$
$

2,350
5,640
15,510
23,500

700
350

3%
3%
3%

Page ____of____

TYPE OF PAYMENT FOR BID
BOND

REMARKS

ADDENDUM

AGENDA ITEM EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Agenda Item:

2014 and 2015 Cemetery Burial Services Contract

Presenter & Title:

Chris Bong, Superintendent of Streets

Date: 2-3-14
Please Check Appropriate Box:
x Committee of the Whole Meeting
x City Council Meeting
Public Hearing

Special Committee of the Whole Meeting
Special City Council Meeting
Other -

Estimated Cost: $600/burial for 2014,
Budgeted?
$700/burial for 2015
If NO, please explain how the item will be funded:

x

YES
NO

Executive Summary:
This is the contract for burial services for the Oak Hill and West Side Cemeteries. We
have hired out for burial services for the past 2 years and it has really worked well.
This contract would be for 2014 with a small increase for 2015. There was only one
bidder for this portion of the contract, Professional Cemetery Services, however it was
the same contractor that is currently under contract and they kept the prices the same
for adult burials and raised the price for cremains by $100.
Attachments: (please list)
• Summary of Bids
• Resolution
Recommendation / Suggested Action: (briefly explain)
Staff respectfully recommends awarding the 2014 and 2015 Cemetery Burial Services
contract to Professional Cemetery Services with prices summarized on the attached
sheet at the January 21, 2014 City Council meeting.

RESOLUTION NO. 2014-__
RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING EXECUTION OF
_______

2014 and 2015 Cemetery Burial Services Contract_____

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GENEVA, KANE
COUNTY, ILLINOIS, as follows:
SECTION 1:

That the City Administrator is hereby authorized to execute, on behalf of

the City of Geneva, 2014 and 2015 Cemetery Burial Services Contract ___________________, in
the form attached hereto at Exhibit “A”.
SECTION 2: This Resolution shall become effective from and after its passage as in
accordance with law.
PASSED by the City Council of the City of Geneva, Kane County, Illinois, this
of January

, 2014

AYES: __

NAYS: __ ABSENT: __

ABSTAINING: __

day

HOLDING OFFICE: __

Approved by me this ____ day of __________, 2014.

City Administrator

City of Geneva
Summary of Bids

Name of Project: 20141 Cemetery Landscape
Maintenance and Burial

Recorded By: T. Dahl

Opened By: T. Dahl

Date/Time: 1-7-14 11am

Approved Engineer Estimate/ Budget :
CONTRACTOR NAME

Professional Cemetery Services
West Side
Oak Hill area 1
Oak Hill area 2+3
Adult Burial
Cremain
Landscape Total =
Accurate Edge

West Side
Oak Hill area 1
Oak Hill area 2+3
Landscape Total =

2014 BID PRICE

2015 BID PRICE

$
$
$
$
$
$

4,900
6,000
26,400
600 $
300 $
37,300

$
$
$
$

2,350
5,640
15,510
23,500

700
350

3%
3%
3%

Page ____of____

TYPE OF PAYMENT FOR BID
BOND

REMARKS

ADDENDUM

AGENDA ITEM EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Agenda Item:

Recommend amendments to the applicable sections of the City Code related
to the consolidation of the Zoning Board of Appeals and Plan Commission, so
that the duties and responsibilities of the Zoning Board of Appeals would be
shifted to the Plan Commission.

Presenter & Title:

Dick Untch, Community Development Director

Date:
January 13, 2014
Please Check Appropriate Box:
X Committee of the Whole Meeting
City Council Meeting
Public Hearing
Estimated Cost: $0

Special Committee of the Whole Meeting
Special City Council Meeting
Other ‐
Budgeted?

YES
NO

Executive Summary:
On August 26, 2013, the city council directed department staff to initiate the formal city code
amendment process and publish a legal notice for a Plan Commission public hearing on amendments
to the City Code related to the consolidation of Zoning Board of Appeals (ZBA) and Plan Commission
(PC), so that the duties and responsibilities of the ZBA would be shifted to the PC. The PC would be
renamed as the “Planning and Zoning Commission”. The PC held a public hearing on the proposed
changes to Title 11 (Zoning Ordinance) and Title 12 (Subdivisions) on November 14, 2013 and received
testimony from city staff and Art Kaindl, Chairman of the ZBA. At its meeting on December 12, 2013
the PC recommended approval (by a vote of 5 to 2) of the proposed amendments to Titles 11 and 12
to shift the duties of the ZBA to the PC. The two Commissioners that did not support the proposed
amendments stated concerns regarding the reduction in membership that would be required if the
duties of the ZBA were shifted to the PC. In Illinois, a Plan Commissions can have any number of
members, whereas Zoning Board of Appeals must have seven members. The Geneva Plan Commission
has 9 members (8 currently serving, with one vacancy). If the decision is made to shift ZBA review
authority to the PC, the member size of the PC must be reduced from nine to seven. Two
Commissioners stated that the reduction in members would dilute the diversity of perspectives on the
Plan Commission, and that given the few times the ZBA is called upon to act, the benefits of shifting
the ZBA’s duties to the PC did not justify or offset reducing the size of the Plan Commission. The
proposed effective date for the consolidation is May 1, 2014.
Attachments: (please list)
Community Development Report
Minutes from the November 14th and December 12th Plan Commission meetings
Transcripts from the November 14th Plan Commission public hearing
Recommendation / Suggested Action: (briefly explain)
Staff recommends approval of amendments to the applicable sections of the City Code, as shown on
Pages 4 through 9 of the attached Community Development Department report, related to the
consolidation of the PC and ZBA. At its meeting on December 12, 2013, the Plan Commission
recommended approval (by a vote of 5 to 2) of amendments to Title 11 (Zoning Ordinance) and Title
12 (Subdivisions) to shift the duties of the ZBA to the PC.

Community Development Department Report

GENEVA COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE
JANUARY 13, 2014

PROPOSED CITY CODE AMENDMENTS TO SHIFT
ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS REVIEW
AUTHORITY TO THE PLAN COMMISSION

Applicant
City of Geneva
Request
Amendments to the
applicable sections of the City
Code related to the
consolidation of the Zoning
Board of Appeals (ZBA) and
Plan Commission (PC), so that
the duties and responsibilities
of the ZBA would be shifted to
the PC.
Staff Recommendation
To amend the applicable
sections of the City Code, as
shown on Pages 4 through 9,
related to the consolidation of
the Plan Commission and
Zoning Board of Appeals
Plan Commission
Recommendation
At its meeting on December
12, 2013 the Plan Commission
recommended approval (by a
vote of 5 to 2) of amendments
to the applicable sections of
Title 11 (Zoning Ordinance)
and Title 12 (Subdivisions),
related to the consolidation of
the Plan Commission and
Zoning Board of Appeals
Staff Liaison
David DeGroot
City Planner
Phone: (630) 232‐0814
Email: ddegroot@geneva.il.us

BACKGROUND
On August 26, 2013, the city council directed department staff to
initiate the formal city code amendment process and publish a legal
notice for a Plan Commission public hearing on amendments to the
City Code related to the consolidation of Zoning Board of Appeals
(ZBA) and Plan Commission (PC), so that the duties and
responsibilities of the ZBA would be shifted to the PC. The Plan
Commission conducted a public hearing on November 14, 2013 and
received testimony from city staff and Art Kaindl, Chairman of the
Zoning Board of Appeals. A copy of the minutes and transcripts from
the November 14th public hearing are attached for review.

STAFF ANALYSIS ‐ WHY ARE THE AMENDMENTS
PROPOSED?
Infrequent ZBA meetings
The Zoning Board of Appeals recently went for a period of 2‐1/2 years
without meeting because no variation petitions were submitted for
review. The causes for the reduction in applications are likely due to
several factors including the depressed real estate market and the
slowed growth in the economy since 2008, amendments to zoning
regulations that have made them less restrictive, and day‐to‐day
coaching of property owners by Community Development Department
staff on how to design their contemplated construction projects to
conform to zoning regulations so they don’t need zoning variations.
Inactivity by itself, does not justify making the proposed change.
However, with the ZBA meeting so infrequently, it’s difficult for board
members (particularly newer members) to maintain familiarity with
review procedures and variation standards, and apply standards
consistently from case to case. This observation does not diminish the
dedicated service and high quality work of ZBA members, it’s a simple
reality of infrequent meetings. The ZBA members serve as hard
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working volunteers, and there service to the community has provided lasting value to the city.
Certainly, the department staff has a responsibility to support, answer questions, and when necessary,
provide training to ZBA members on the role they serve. The department’s increasing range of
responsibilities, daily work load, and limited staff resources make added training (due to infrequent ZBA
meetings) an unreasonable expectation.
ZBA members want to make a civic contribution to the city by volunteering to serve. Being appointed to a
board that seldom meets doesn’t fulfill the desire to serve. Members have to reserve prospective meeting
dates in their personal schedules, yet are seldom called upon to serve.
Inefficiency and developer/property owner confusion
Review of proposed development plans, zoning map amendments, and special use requests typically
involve review by the Plan Commission, and sometimes developers/property owners apply for Historic
Preservation Commission approval and zoning variations as well. This means the developer/property
owner has to submit separate applications to as many as three review bodies; the Plan Commission,
Historic Preservation Commission, and Zoning Board of Appeals. Later the Committee‐of‐the‐whole and
the City Council review and consider the plans. Additionally, when the ZBA and PC are conducting
separate reviews of site plans/variations, added time is spent waiting for the ZBA to first conduct its public
hearing, and take action, before the PC can conduct its public hearing and make its recommendation. This
lengthy process is a source of frustration to applicants when they need the city to issue a building permit
ASAP.
Need for simplicity
The complexity of the review process is a source of developer/property owner confusion. Staff is typically
engaged in multiple coaching sessions with applicants on the separate document submittal requirements,
review processes, and meeting schedules for each review body. Even with checklists, procedure outlines,
and requirement summaries provided in both hard copy form and online, large amounts of staff time are
consumed that could be spent more productively. Of course, this staff time is a cost to the city.
Even on relatively simple residential zoning variation applications (with no other review bodies involved),
applicant confusion surfaces on the different roles of the ZBA, PC and HPC. Having one body responsible
for the review of all zoning matters, whether it’s a zoning map amendment, zoning text amendment, or
variation petition, is simple, easy for citizen’s to understand, and demonstrates streamlined/well‐
organized city government.
The PC already conducts reviews of variation/relief requests
Over many years, the ZBA has used a well‐reasoned and sensitive approach in applying variation standards
to specific variation requests. The desires of applicants are carefully considered. Likewise, for many years
the PC has carefully applied variation standards to zoning relief requests. Every time the PC reviews a
proposed planned unit development/subdivision plat relief request, or sign variation request, it is applying
relief standards and preparing findings of fact. There are many similarities in the way the ZBA and PC
review these requests. Therefore, the proposed shift of zoning variation review authority to the PC should
be a smooth transition.
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The PC can serve as both a recommending and a quasi‐judicial decision‐making body
Under Illinois law, a ZBA acts as a quasi‐judicial decision‐making body, not a recommending body. This
means when it makes a decision on a zoning variation petition, its action is final and is not forwarded to
the city council for final approval. If the petitioner wishes to appeal the ZBA’s decision, he must seek relief
via the circuit court. Under Illinois law, a PC is a recommending body and its recommendations are
forwarded to the city council for final action. City Attorney Radovich has confirmed that Illinois law also
allows a municipality to establish one review body to serve as a recommending body for review of
proposed development plans, rezoning/special use petitions, etc. (typical Plan Commission review
matters), and as a quasi‐judicial decision‐making body for determinations on zoning variation petitions
and appeals. The proposed code amendment would shift the ZBA review authority to the PC and the PC
would be renamed) as the Planning and Zoning Commission, thereby eliminating the ZBA.
Many Illinois municipalities have combined the quasi‐judicial decision‐making authority of a ZBA and the
recommending review authority a PC into one review body. The meeting agendas of the combined review
body are divided into two sections; one section when variation petitions are reviewed, and a separate
section when zoning requests, special uses, subdivisions and site plan reviews are reviewed. In Illinois, a
PC can have any number of members, whereas ZBA’s must have seven members. The Geneva Plan
Commission has 9 members (8 currently serving, with one vacancy). If the decision is made to shift ZBA
review authority to the PC, the member size of the PC must be reduced from nine to seven.
Cost impacts
PC public hearings on proposed zoning amendments, special use requests, and subdivisions, and ZBA
public hearings on variation petitions require preparation of verbatum transcripts. A separate
“attendance fee” of $175.00 is charged by the court reporter for each PC or ZBA meeting they attend. The
shift of ZBA review authority to the PC would eliminate the $175.00 attendance fee charged for the
hearings now held at the separate ZBA meetings. A separate per page transcribed cost is charged as well.
The city is currently absorbing these costs.

WHAT OTHER MUNICIPALITIES ARE DOING
Department staff reached out to other suburban municipalities in the Chicago region to find out how they
conduct ZBA variation petition review functions. Of the 20 municipalities surveyed, 9 have consolidated PC
and ZBA review functions (i.e.‐ created a single review body for review and consideration of all zoning
matters). These Planning and Zoning Commissions review proposed development plans and conduct
public hearings on (proposed subdivision plats, zoning map amendments, special use requests, etc.), and
conduct public hearings on zoning variation petitions and appeals. Staff also reviewed the results of a
recent survey completed by the Village of Gurnee, Illinois. The results showed that 21 of 30 Illinois
municipalities surveyed had consolidated PC and ZBA review functions. All of the municipalities staff
spoke to said consolidation worked well.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION
Based on the foregoing, staff recommends approval of the amendments to the applicable sections of the
Geneva City Code related to the consolidation of the Zoning Board of Appeals (ZBA) and Plan
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Commission (PC), so that the duties and responsibilities of the ZBA would be shifted to the PC. There
are several Titles and Sections of the City Code that require amendments to accomplish the
consolidation of the ZBA and PC.
The most substantial changes proposed to the Geneva City Code are to Section 11‐14‐2 (Authority of
Administrative Bodies and Officers) of Title 11 (Zoning Ordinance), Chapter 1 (Plan Commission) and
Chapter 2 (Zoning Board of Appeals) of Title 3 (Boards and Commissions). The proposed changes to
these sections are shown below. Proposed deletions are struck through and proposed additions are
shown in bold font. Additionally, there are numerous sections of the City Code that require text
amendments to replace the terms “Zoning Board of Appeals” and “Plan Commission” with the term
“Planning & Zoning Commission”. The sections that simply require this word replacement are listed on
page 9 of this report.

TITLE 11: ZONING ORDINANCE
11‐14‐2: AUTHORITY OF ADMINISTRATIVE BODIES AND OFFICERS:
The administrative bodies and officials of the city with vested authority to administer this title include
the following:
City Council
Plan Commission Planning and Zoning Commission
Zoning Board of Appeals
Commission on Historic Preservation
Community Development Department
Director of Community Development
City Engineer
City Building Commissioner
City Attorney
The duties and responsibilities of each of the bodies and officers in the administration of
this title are as follows:
A. City Council: The city council shall have the following duties and responsibilities:
1. To approve or disapprove an application for amendments to the text or map of
this title.
2. To approve or disapprove an application for special use permits authorized under
this title.
3. To approve or disapprove an application for site plan approval under this title.
4. To initiate applications for text or map amendments to this title.
5. To direct the community development department, director of community
development, plan commission or zoning board of appeals or Planning and
Zoning Commission to conduct such studies, research or other actions as
appropriate in the review, and administration of this title.
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B. Plan CommissionPlanning and Zoning Commission: The plan commission Planning and
Zoning Commission shall have the following duties and responsibilities:
1. To initiate, hear and make recommendations to the city council on applications
for amendments to the text or map of this title.
2. To hear and make recommendations to the city council on applications for
special use permits, including planned unit developments.
3. To review and make recommendations to the city council on site plans.
4. To regularly review and recommend, as appropriate, amendments to this title.
5. To hear and make recommendations to the city council on applications for
variations from chapter 12 (Signs) of this title.
6. To grant or deny requested variations from this title.
7. To hear and decide any appeal or any decision, order or interpretation by the
officer whose duty it is to enforce the zoning ordinance.
C. Zoning Board Of Appeals: The zoning board of appeals shall have the duties and
responsibilities as provided for in title 3, chapter 2 of this code. Reserved.
D. Commission On Historic Preservation: The commission on historic preservation shall
have the duties and responsibilities as provided for in title 3, chapter 3 of this code.
E. Community Development Department: The community development department shall
have the following duties and responsibilities:
1. To provide the public and applicants with information with regard to the
requirements of this title.
2. To review applications for amendments, special use permits, planned unit
developments, site plan and variations for compliance with the requirements of
this title.
3. To determine compliance with this title in the review of applications for zoning
certificates, building permits and certificates of occupancy.
4. To prepare reports to the Planning and Zoning Commission plan commission,
zoning board of appeals and/or city council on applications for amendments,
special uses, variations, site plans and planned unit developments.
5. To provide the Planning and Zoning Commission plan commission, zoning board
of appeals and city council with assistance and with such information as may be
required or requested.
6. To perform such other duties as directed by the Planning and Zoning
Commission plan commission, zoning board of appeals or city council.
F. Director Of Community Development Department: The director of community
development and/or his designee shall oversee and direct the functions of the
department of community development in carrying out its duties under the provisions
of this title.
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G. City Engineer: The city engineer shall have the following duties and responsibilities:
1. To review for compliance with civil engineering aspects of all development plans
and proposals within the city under this title and other applicable ordinances of
the city.
2. To determine as may be required, in collaboration with the director of
community development, whether development proposals shall be accompanied
by a traffic impact analysis.
3. To advise and recommend to the Planning and Zoning Commission plan
commission, zoning board of appeals and city council on civil engineering matters
under this title, as required.
4. To undertake special studies or investigations as may be recommended by the
Planning and Zoning Commission plan commission to the city council, and/or as
directed by the city council.
5. To enforce the provisions of this title, as appropriate.
H. City Building Commissioner: The city building commissioner and/or his designee shall
have the following duties and responsibilities:
1. To serve as zoning administrator in the administration of this title and carry out
the following:
a. Receive applications as required and determine whether they are
complete for processing under this title.
b. Examine premises for which permit applications are pending or have
been approved, and make necessary inspections to determine
compliance with this title.
c. Make investigations and render written reports when requested by the
mayor or city council, or as the interest of the community requires.
d. Issue notices or orders as may be necessary.
e. Make available to the public, written rules and procedures consistent
with this title.
f. To approve or disapprove on an application for a zoning certificate for
compliance with this title.
g. Keep permanent and comprehensive records of applications, permits,
certificates, inspections, reports, notices, orders and other actions taken
under the authority of this title.
h. Interpret the provisions of this title.
i. Enforce the provisions of this title.
j. To initiate the annual update and publication of the official zoning map
in accordance with state law.
3. To approve or disapprove on an application for a building permit for compliance
with this title.
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4. To approve or disapprove on an application for an occupancy certificate for
compliance with this title.
5. To enforce the provisions of this title.

I.

City Attorney: The city attorney shall have the following duties and responsibilities:
1. To advise the city council, director of community development, plan commission
or zoning board of appeals or Planning and Zoning Commission as requested on
any matters of law in the application or enforcement of this title.
2. To review for compliance under this title, actions to be taken by the city council,
as appropriate.
3. To diligently pursue prosecution of violators and violations brought under this
title.

TITLE 3: BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS
CHAPTER 1: PLAN COMMISSION PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION
3‐1‐1: COMMISSION CREATED:
A. Creation; Composition: There is hereby created a plan commission Planning and Zoning
Commission for the city, which shall consist of nine (9) seven (7) members who shall be
appointed by the mayor, by and with the advice and consent of the city council. The
Planning and Zoning Commission shall serve as a plan commission and a board of
appeals on planning and zoning matters.
B. Terms: The term of the members of the plan commission Planning and Zoning
Commission shall be for four (4) years. The term of three (3) of the members shall
expire in each of the three (3) succeeding one year periods and the term of two (2) of
the members shall expire the subsequent year.
C. Organization: The mayor, by and with the advice and consent of the city council, shall
appoint the chair and vice chair of the plan commission Planning and Zoning
Commission, whose appointment to said office shall not exceed the term of
appointment provided in subsection B of this section. The plan commission Planning
and Zoning Commission may elect from its members such other officers as it deems
necessary and may appoint a secretary for its meetings and public hearings. No member
of the plan commission Planning and Zoning Commission shall receive compensation
for his services; provided that the city council may provide such technical or other
services to the plan commission Planning and Zoning Commission as may be needed
from time to time.
3‐1‐2: MEETINGS:
A. Meeting Dates: The plan commission Planning and Zoning Commission shall meet at
such times as it may, by majority vote, determine upon as regular meeting dates, or at
any time upon call by the chair or by any three (3) members thereof.
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B. Records: The plan commission Planning and Zoning Commission shall keep written
records of its proceedings which shall be open to inspection by the city council at all
times.
3‐1‐3: POWERS AND DUTIES:
The plan commission Planning and Zoning Commission shall have the following powers:
A. To prepare and recommend improvements looking to the present and future
development of the city, which plan shall be known as the official plan of
Geneva. [1]Such plan shall include reasonable requirements in reference to streets, alleys
and public grounds in unsubdivided lands within the corporate limits of the city and in
contiguous territory outside of the corporate limits of the city and distant not more than
one and one‐half (1½) miles from such limits, and not included in any city, village or
incorporated town. Such requirements shall be effective whenever such lands shall be
subdivided after the adoption of such plan.
B. To prepare and recommend to the city council from time to time such changes in the
plan as may be deemed necessary by the city council or by the plan commission
Planning and Zoning Commission.
C. To prepare and recommend to the city council from time to time for specific
improvements, in the pursuance of such official plan.
D. To give aid to the officials of the city charged with the direction of projects for
improvements embraced within the official plan, to further the making of such
improvements, and generally to promote the realization of the official plan.
E. To exercise such other powers germane to the powers granted by this section as may be
conferred by the city council.
F. To grant or deny requested variation in accordance with the provisions of Title 11.
G. To hear and decide any appeal or any decision, order or interpretation by the officer
whose duty it is to enforce the zoning ordinance, and the commission shall have such
other powers and duties as may be delegated to it by statute or ordinance; provided
that it shall the power to reverse any decision of such officer on a concurring vote of
five (5) members.
3‐1‐4: SUBDIVISION PLATS:
No map or plat of any subdivision presented for record, affecting land within the corporate limits of the
city, and in contiguous territory outside and distant not more than one and one‐half (1½) miles from
such limits of the city, village or incorporated town, after the adoption of the official plan, shall be
entitled to record or shall be valid unless the subdivision thereon shown shall provide for streets, alleys
and public grounds in conformity with any requirements applicable thereto on such official plan.
CHAPTER 2: ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS =Reserved.
The administrative bodies and officials of the city with vested authority to
3‐2‐1: BOARD CREATED:
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There is hereby created a zoning board appeals to serve as a board of appeals on zoning matters as
provided by statute. Said board shall consist of seven (7) members to be appointed by the mayor and
city council. The members of the board of appeals shall serve for a term of five (5) years; provided that
the terms shall be staggered as provided by statute.
3‐2‐2: DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES:
It shall be the duty of the zoning board of appeals to hear and decide any appeal or any decision, order
or interpretation by the officer whose duty it is to enforce the zoning ordinance, [3] and it shall have such
other powers and duties as may be delegated to it by statute or ordinance; provided that it shall have
the power to reverse any decision of such officer on a concurring vote of four (4) members.

SECTIONS REQUIRING WORD REPLACEMENT
There are numerous sections of the City Code that require text amendments to replace the terms Zoning
Board of Appeals and Plan Commission with the term Planning & Zoning Commission. These proposed
City Code amendments do not require a Plan Commission public hearing and can simply be adopted by
an ordinance passed by the City Council. The sections that simply require this word replacement are
listed below.
TITLE 1: ADMINISTRATIVE
Chapter 6: Municipal Officers and Employees, Sections1‐6E‐2, 1‐6‐7, and 1‐6H‐2
Chapter 13: Freedom of Information Inquiries, Section1‐13‐1
TITLE 10: BUILDING REGULATIONS
Chapter 6: Historic Preservation, Sections 10‐6‐3 and 10‐6‐7
TITLE 11: ZONING ORDINANCE
Chapter 3: General Zoning Provisions, Section11‐3‐9
Chapter 4: Zoning Districts, Sections 11‐2‐2, 11‐4‐2 and 11‐4‐5
Chapter 5: Residential Districts, Section 11‐5‐7
Chapter 6: Office and Commercial Districts, Section 11‐6E‐4
Chapter 9: Planned Unit Developments, Sections 11‐9‐1, 11‐9‐2, 11‐9‐4, 11‐9‐5, 11‐9‐8, 11‐9‐9, and
11‐9‐11
Chapter 10: Landscaping and Design, Section 11‐10‐6
Chapter 10A: Tree Preservation, Sections 11‐10A‐4 and 11‐10A‐10
Chapter 11A: Off‐Street Parking, Sections 11‐11A‐2, 11‐11A‐3, and 11‐11A‐6
Chapter 11C: Traffic and Access Regulations, Section 11‐11C‐3
Chapter 14: Administration and Enforcement, Sections 11‐14‐3, 11‐14‐4, 11‐14‐5, 11‐14‐5A 11‐14‐6 ,
11‐14‐7, and 11‐14‐9
Chapter 14A: Site Plan Review, Sections 11‐14A‐1, 11‐14A‐6, 11‐14A‐9, and 11‐14A‐12
Chapter 14B: Historical Review, Sections 11‐14B‐1, 11‐14B‐2, and 11‐14B‐3
TITLE 12: SUBDIVISION PROCEDURES.
Chapter 1: General Provisions, Sections 12‐1‐2 and 12‐1‐3
Chapter 2: Subdivision Procedures, Sections 12‐2‐1, 12‐2‐2, 12‐2‐3, and 12‐2‐4
Chapter 3: Design Standards, Sections 12‐3‐1, 12‐3‐2, and 12‐3‐6
Chapter 4: Public Open Spaces, Sections 12‐4‐2, 12‐4‐4, 12‐4‐6, and 12‐4‐7
Chapter 5: Administration and Enforcement, Sections 12‐5‐1, 12‐5‐3, 12‐5‐4, and 12‐5‐5
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PLAN COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION
As shown, there are several Titles and Sections of the City Code that require amendments to accomplish
the consolidation of the Zoning Board of Appeals and Plan Commission. The Plan Commission is only
required to consider and make recommendations on amendments to the text of Title 11 (Zoning
Ordinance) and Title 12 (Subdivisions). The Plan Commission held a public hearing on the proposed
changes to Titles 11 and 12 on November 14, 2013 and received testimony from city staff and Art Kaindl,
Chairman of the Zoning Board of Appeals. A copy of minutes and transcripts from the November 14th
public hearing are attached for review.
At its meeting on December 12, 2013 the Plan Commission recommended approval (by a vote of 5 to 2)
of the proposed amendments to Title 11 (Zoning Ordinance) and Title 12 (Subdivisions) to shift the
duties of the Zoning Board of Appeals to the Plan Commission. The two Commissioners that did not
support the proposed amendments stated concerns regarding the reduction in membership that would
be required if the duties of the ZBA were shifted to the PC. In Illinois, Plan Commissions can have any
number of members, whereas Zoning Board of Appeals must have seven members. The Geneva Plan
Commission has 9 members (8 currently serving, with one vacancy). If the decision is made to shift ZBA
review authority to the PC, the member size of the PC must be reduced from nine to seven. Two
Commissioners stated that the reduction in members would dilute the diversity of perspectives on the
Plan Commission, and that given the few times the ZBA is called upon to act, the benefits of shifting the
ZBA’s duties to the PC did not justify or offset reducing the size of the Plan Commission. A copy of the
minutes and transcripts from the December 12th meeting are also attached for review.

REVIEW/APPROVAL PROCESS: NEXT STEPS*
1. January 20, 2013 – City Council consideration of request

ATTACHMENTS
Minutes from the November 14th Plan Commission meeting
Transcripts from the November 14th Plan Commission public hearing
Minutes from the December 12th Plan Commission meeting

PLAN COMMISSION MINUTES
City of Geneva
109 James Street - City Council Chambers
Meeting #1139 – November 14, 2013
Chairman Rogers called the Plan Commission meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. Roll call followed:
Present:

Commissioners Case, Evans, Leidig, Mead, Stevenson, Stocking, Chairman Rogers

Absent:

Commissioners Erickson

Others Present: Community Development Dir. Dick Untch; Planner David DeGroot; Recording
Secretary Celeste Weilandt
Public Present: Applicant Dave McFadden; Zoning Board of Appeals Chairman Art Kaindl; and
Chicago-Area Real Time Court Reporter Joan Ely.
________________________________________________________________________________
Approval of the October 24, 2013 Meeting Minutes
Minutes of the October 24, 2013 meeting were approved on motion by Commissioner Case,
seconded by Commissioner Leidig. Motion carried by voice vote of 7-0.
Public Hearings
Chairman Rogers reviewed the protocol for the public hearing and swore in those individuals that
would be speaking on the two following matters.
Sign Variation - Request for a sign variation to allow three (3) freestanding signs on a zoning
lot. Location. Applicant: Dave McFadden; Location: 200 S. Third Street
[See Transcript from Chicago-Area Real Time Reporters]
Commissioner Evans moved to close the public hearing, seconded by Commissioner Leidig.
Motion carried by voice vote of 7-0.
Commissioner Mead moved to waive the two-week bifurcated process and vote on the above
matter. Seconded by Commissioner Stevenson. Motion carried by voice vote of 7-0.
Commissioner Mead moved to approve the request for a sign variation in accordance with
Section 11-14-5A(G) of the Geneva Zoning Ordinance, to allow three (3) freestanding signs on
a single zoning lot located at 200 S. Third Street and subject to staff’s five (5) Findings of Fact.
Seconded by Commissioner Leidig. Roll call:
Aye:
Nay:

Case, Evans, Leidig, Mead, Stevenson, Stocking, Rogers
None
MOTION CARRIED. VOTE: 7-0

Text Amendments - Request for amendments to the applicable sections of Title 11 (Zoning
Ordinance) and Title 12 (Subdivisions) of the Geneva City Code related to the consolidation of
the Zoning Board of Appeals and Plan Commission, so that the duties and obligations of the
Zoning Board of Appeals be carried out by the Plan Commission. Applicant: City of Geneva.
[See Transcript from Chicago-Area Real Time Reporters]

Geneva Plan Commission

-2-

November 14, 2013

Commissioner Mead moved to close the public hearing. Seconded by Commissioner Case.
Motion carried by voice vote of 7-0.
Commissioners discussed their thoughts about the reduction of 9 members down to 7 members and
the issues that could arise, especially if meeting a quorum was to become an issue. Staff comments
also included that when there is a member reduction the perspective of certain members are reduced
and it places pressure on the seated members. Dir. Untch shared some of the situations he ran
across in speaking to other municipalities where on plan commission items, nine (9) or more
commissioners are used, while for zoning variations and appeals, seven (7) members are used, which
he found awkward. He favored keeping the number of members equal.
Commissioner Case moved to waive the two-week bifurcated process and vote on the matter.
Seconded by Commissioner Stocking. Roll call:
Aye:
Nay:

Leidig, Stocking
Case, Evans, Mead, Stevenson, Rogers

MOTION FAILED: VOTE: 2-5

Mr. DeGroot reported this matter will be taken up at the December 12th Plan Commission meeting.
Public Comment - None
Other Business
Mr. DeGroot reported that First Baptist Church will be expanding its west campus church on Peck
Road. They are targeting a January public hearing. Also, the zoning map amendment for Opportunity
Site 6 was recommended for approval unanimously by the Committee of the Whole. However, the
comprehensive plan change was recommended for approval by a vote of 8-2.
Adjournment
The meeting was adjourned at 8:26 p.m. on motion by Commissioner Evans.
unanimously.

Motion carried
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CHAIRMAN ROGERS:

1

All right.

The second

2

hearing is a text amendment, request for amendments to

3

the applicable sections of Title 11, Zoning Ordinance,

4

and Title 12, Subdivisions, of the Geneva City Code

5

related to consolidation of the Zoning Board of Appeals

6

and Plan Commission, so that the duties and obligations

7

of the Zoning Board of Appeals be carried out by the

8

Plan Commission.

9
10

The applicant is the City of Geneva.
David.
MR. DEGROOT:

11

Just quickly, the contents

12

of this file include the application filed by the City

13

Council of the City of Geneva requesting text

14

amendments through the Geneva Zoning Ordinance and

15

Subdivision regulations related to the consolidation of

16

the ZBA and Plan Commission; a memo from the Community

17

Development Department to the Plan Commission

18

summarizing the request and providing the staff

19

analysis; a certificate of publication to the Daily

20

Herald for a legal notice that was published on

21

September 25th for an October 10th Plan Commission

22

public hearing, which was then rescheduled for

23

tonight's meeting; and then a copy -- I'm sorry.

24

That's all.

There is no notification here.
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1

CHAIRMAN ROGERS:

2

MR. UNTCH:

Okay.

Dick.

Good evening.

A few

3

comments, just paraphrasing from the staff memo that we

4

have provided to you on this proposal.

5

Back this past summer, the City Council

6

directed the department to initiate the formal

7

amendment process to the city code on the consolidation

8

of the Zoning Board of Appeals and the Plan Commission

9

so that the duties and responsibilities of the ZBA

10
11

would be shifted to the Plan Commission.
What we've done is outlined six basic reasons

12

why this change is being proposed.

The first one has

13

to do with infrequent ZBA meetings.

The Zoning Board

14

of Appeals recently went through a period of time for

15

about 2 1/2 years where they did not meet.

16

Inactivity by itself doesn't really justify

17

making the proposed change, but with the Zoning Board

18

meeting as infrequently as it does, it's been staff's

19

observations that for some of the members of the ZBA,

20

particularly new members that come on board, they

21

really don't get a chance to get involved with the code

22

and with the application of the variation standards to

23

cases when basically the group is not meeting.

24

I know it's been pointed out that, yeah,
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well, there's a responsibility on the part of staff to

2

train the advisory commission members when they're

3

there and to make sure that they're up to speed with

4

what's going on.

5

From the standpoint of staff resources and

6

efficient management of this process, what I see from a

7

department head perspective, as head of the Community

8

Development Department, is we have a continuing

9

stretching of our workload with the same or less staff

10

than we had some years back.

11

expand our workload, there is less and less opportunity

12

to simply pile on new tasks and new responsibilities,

13

and I walked through some of that with you; but, you

14

know, some of the things, for example, that we're

15

involved in -- I'm not saying this is an excuse.

16

just saying it's a reality that my department faces.

17

So as we continue to

I'm

We are now engaged in a full-blown building

18

inspection program.

So we're scheduling inspections on

19

a daily basis, on plumbing inspections, that heretofore

20

had not been the case because we had registered

21

licensed plumbers providing sign-offs on that plumbing

22

work previously.

23

in the building division in that area.

24

division is typically the staff liaison to the ZBA.

So we had a lot of staff level work
The building
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We issued last year the most permits we had

1
2

issued in many years for building construction.

Now,

3

granted, they were smaller projects, but to give you a

4

flavor for this, what we've done is we've worked to

5

streamline our permitting process, and so we've

6

expanded the range of over-the-counter building permits

7

that we issue in the interest of keeping things moving

8

for the folks that have got projects and are doing

9

construction.
So right now we're doing driveways; we're

10
11

doing furnace and air conditioning units; roofing;

12

siding, when it's a simple siding replacement on a

13

house; water heaters; and sewer repairs all over the

14

counter.

15

over-the-counter paperwork with permit applicants has

16

really increased.

17

So our staff level work and our

So I just point out a couple of those

18

examples just to share with you that as we work to

19

refine and streamline our operations in the department,

20

we're also adding new tasks to the entire body of tasks

21

that our staff is involved in.

22

makes a difference from my perspective as the

23

department head.

24

So every little bit

Also a little bit about the role of an
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advisory commission member.

2

in a voluntary capacity, you're reserving time out of

3

your personal schedule.

4

calendar potential nights when you're going to be

5

serving in that advisory commission role; and when

6

you're not called to meet, that's basically taking time

7

out of your personal schedule and how you plan your

8

time.

9

not -- I don't think that's a good way to treat

10

When you decide to serve

You're blocking out on your

Then if the group doesn't meet, that's just

volunteers.
The second basic reason has to do with

11
12

inefficiency and developer/property owner confusion.

13

We have some instances that occur when a Zoning Board

14

of Appeals variation case is combined with Plan

15

Commission and Historic Preservation Commission

16

reviews.

17

What this does is it kind of creates a little

18

bit of a situation for an applicant like they're

19

running a gauntlet because we've got to explain on a

20

staff level what each set of application requirements

21

is required for each case, we have to walk them through

22

the timing requirements, we have to walk them through

23

the public notice requirements, and basically shepherd

24

them through this multi-hurdled process.
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It is a source of frustration, and this

2

probably occurs for the most part in commercial

3

projects, not so much the individual homeowner

4

residential project; but when it does occur, it's

5

definitely a problem.

6

So the idea of having one body that handles

7

all zoning matters, that handles variations, zoning

8

variations, or appeals of the zoning administrator's

9

decisions on a particular case or matters pertaining to

10

zoning map amendments or zoning text changes or special

11

use requests, that really works to simplify things for

12

the petitioner, for the property owner, for the

13

applicant in the case.

14

The third point would be need for simplicity.

15

The complexity of our review process sometimes is the

16

source of confusion.

17

in this coaching process with the applicant, and what

18

I've done in my 15 years here is to try to emphasize

19

the coaching aspect of this process so that applicants

20

understand what they need to do to get out the door,

21

past the City Council, and out to approval; but in the

22

process of trying to clean up and make that process

23

fluid, there's a lot of time spent on coaching.

24

anything we can do to simplify things helps the

As I've mentioned, we are engaged
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1
2

applicants.
The fourth reason has to do with just where

3

things stand with this body.

4

very frequently, conducts public hearings very

5

frequently, and certainly has the background, and just

6

the frequency of meeting where you're used to dealing

7

with variations, both sign variations in the case of

8

subdivisions, planned unit developments, relief from

9

zoning standards.

10

The Plan Commission meets

So you're used to being in that mode of

11

listening to a proposal from an applicant, measuring

12

that proposal against standards that are set out in the

13

city code and zoning ordinance and making a finding of

14

fact on those standards and those requirements.

15

think that as a group the Commission is well suited to

16

handle this additional responsibility.

17

So I

I don't want to put words in your mouth.

18

It's just my own observations here as the department

19

head for community development.

20

The fifth reason has to do with just the

21

basic application of the law, of state law as it

22

applies to what plan commissions do, what their

23

authority is, and what zoning boards of appeals -- what

24

their responsibilities are.
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We've had quite a bit of discussion.

1

We have

2

met at least twice now with the City Attorney Radovich

3

just making sure that we have a clear path that we're

4

laying out to you in terms of how this would work, if,

5

in fact, the Zoning Board of Appeals review authority

6

was shifted over to the Plan Commission.
Attorney Radovich has confirmed that under

7
8

Illinois law, municipalities can establish one review

9

body to handle both functions:

The typical matters

10

that the Plan Commission reviews as well as the matters

11

that a Zoning Board of Appeals reviews, which fall into

12

the realm of either a zoning variation or the appeal of

13

a decision or a determination made by the zoning

14

official.

15

What has been emphasized by Attorney Radovich

16

is that it works fine as long as the agendas of this

17

single review body -- and for the purposes of this

18

proposal, we're suggesting that the Plan Commission,

19

the actual name be changed to Planning and Zoning

20

Commission.

21

So as the Planning and Zoning Commission, as

22

matters would be considered by the Planning and Zoning

23

Commission, there would be a portion of your regular

24

meeting that would cover the matters that are typically
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1

reviewed by the Plan Commission -- the site plan

2

reviews, the special use requests, the zoning map

3

amendment requests, planned unit development requests.
Then there would be a second section or a

4
5

separate section of your meeting agenda that would

6

handle any variations or appeals to the zoning --

7

variations of zoning or appeals of the zoning official

8

that would appear as a separate component of the

9

meeting.
Those top items, those first items related to

10
11

the Plan Commission, typical functions of the Plan

12

Commission, would be recommending only.

13

forming a recommendation and forwarding that to the

14

City Council for their consideration.

It would be

That second section dealing with variations

15
16

and appeals, you would be acting as a quasi-judicial

17

body.

18

the Zoning Board of Appeals does now that is -- that's

19

the final right there.

20

You're making that determination at that point.

21

You would be making a determination just the way

It doesn't go to City Council.

Under Illinois law, zoning boards of appeals

22

can also function as a recommending body.

23

perspective, we felt that it made sense to just keep

24

things as they are in terms of that variation appeal
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1

review authority and not change it to recommending,

2

and, frankly, we don't want to see -- as long as it's

3

working well, why fix something that's not broken in

4

that regard.

5

So we think that the law is clear and the

6

approach that we've proposed is clear on how these two

7

different areas of responsibility could be managed in

8

the typical planning and zoning commission meeting, and

9

Attorney Radovich has opined that that works fine in

10
11

terms of state law.
A couple of other points.

The one thing that

12

is interesting in the statutes -- Illinois law has

13

various twists and turns when it comes to planning and

14

zoning matters.

15

statute calls out that zoning boards of appeals shall

16

consist of 7 members, not 5, not 9, not 13, not 11, 7.

17

Regardless of the size of the community, regardless of

18

how that community is otherwise organized, 7 members.

19

For zoning boards of appeals, the

But plan commissions, the statute doesn't

20

call out a specific number.

When you look at the

21

various municipalities around the metropolitan area,

22

there's plan commissions of all different sizes.

23

So in order to serve in this capacity as a

24

group, this new body would be looking at the typical
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Plan Commission review matters as well as Zoning Board

2

of Appeals matters, the Plan Commission would have to

3

reduce down from nine members to seven members.

4

know you have one vacant position now, but nonetheless,

5

that would have to occur in order to stay in conformity

6

with state law.

Now, I

The final point would just be on cost, and

7
8

this is not a huge thing, but we have found ourselves

9

as a city looking at all the various items in our

10

budgets that generate costs of the city.

We have just

11

implemented a new fee structure for items covered by

12

the Plan Commission and reviewed by the Plan

13

Commission.
We now have a fee that's required as part of

14
15

an application.

16

you debit against legal costs, court reporter cost,

17

legal publications in the newspaper, and transcription

18

costs.

19

of Appeals type matters, but I could see where things

20

might be going in that direction.

21

We also have a deposit that debits --

So we haven't yet applied that to Zoning Board

But if we did combine these two functions of

22

the typical Plan Commission review items and the

23

variation appeal cases under one advisory body, what

24

would be saved is when those hearings are being held on
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a given tonight, we would be saving the $175 show-up

2

fee, if you will, for the court reporter attending

3

those meetings.

4

and that would stay the same.

Otherwise, it's a page-by-page charge,

Looking at the costs right now with the

5
6

hearings on Zoning Board of Appeals, we're probably

7

just in those -- well, I'll call it outside costs,

8

we're probably right around $400 per case.

We're only

9

charging 150 with the fee, with no deposit.

So we're

10

actually subsidizing the process right now.
It's a little bit of a point of uncertainty

11
12

as to where the City Council might lie on this topic of

13

recouping fees, all of those fees from the applicant;

14

but we have some situations, actually most situations,

15

where the variation petitions that are submitted are

16

residential homeowners, by smaller folks that have

17

limited resources, and their projects sometimes are

18

smaller.

19

something that the city would want to do.

20

So charging them the full cost may not be

So we haven't explored that, but it's just

21

something to think about because $400 might be pretty

22

daunting if the project was a $5,000 project, and you

23

have, you know, that much in the way of fees or less.

24

So just something we need to work on.
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We checked with what other municipalities are

1
2

doing.

3

one of our interns did the survey work -- of 20

4

municipalities, and we found nine that had combined

5

plan commission and zoning board of appeals functions.

6

We did our own little quick internal survey --

We checked with Gurney, and they had done one

7

a couple of years back.

8

municipalities they surveyed, and 21 of them had

9

combined plan commission and zoning board of appeals

10
11

In their survey, they had 30

functions being handled by the same entity.
Just a quick look at some of the survey

12

results from the Gurney survey, communities that have

13

combined the two functions under one review body

14

included Crystal Lake, Hoffman Estates, Libertyville,

15

Mt. Prospect, Mundelein, Naperville, Niles, Wheeling,

16

Bannockburn, Warrenville, Montgomery, Carol Stream,

17

Darien, Highland Park, Lisle, Lyons, Niles -- that was

18

mentioned twice, sorry -- Orland Park, and Wheaton.

19

So we don't have to be like everybody else

20

that has done this, but we do think, from a staff

21

perspective, and we've had quite a bit of dialogue with

22

the administration and with Mayor Burns, and the City

23

Council obviously directed that this hearing be held,

24

so there's interest in looking at this change and
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1
2

seeing if it's something that makes sense.
The final comment I would make is that Mayor

3

Burns has suggested that if this were to go through,

4

that ZBA members now serving could be very suitable and

5

very capable candidates for service on the new Planning

6

and Zoning Commission should openings, you know, open

7

up in the commission.

8

With that, I'll just open it up to questions.

9

CHAIRMAN ROGERS:

Okay.

Questions?

10

MEMBER STOCKING:

Dick, I appreciate

11

your review of that.

Usually, it's a good idea to have

12

the adjudication process a little bit removed from the

13

Plan Commission, best practice usually --

14

MEMBER UNTCH:

Sure.

15

MEMBER STOCKING:

-- in these cases, but

16

I understand what you're saying in terms of efficiency,

17

and actually applying it, you know, in this town makes

18

a lot of sense.

19

are capable of doing both.

20

So in that case, I think we certainly

The thing that I was surprised at was the

21

statutory requirement was at seven members.

22

other places I've been in it's been like, you know, at

23

least not more than -- you know, seven, but not more

24

than something, but being so specific --
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MR. UNTCH:

1
2

Consider the variety of

municipalities that are in the state --

3

MEMBER STOCKING:

4

MR. UNTCH:

5

-- to set that number like

that is kind of interesting to me.

6

MEMBER STOCKING:

7

MR. UNTCH:

8

Yeah.

I don't know what the source

of that is, to be honest with you.
MEMBER STOCKING:

9
10

Yeah.

Yeah.

That kind of

took me aback because I did not expect that.
MR. UNTCH:

11

Well, what we found, and I

12

won't mention the municipalities, but we have found

13

some municipalities that fly a little loose on that

14

requirement, you know, that do what they want to do

15

basically but --

16

MEMBER STOCKING:

17

MR. UNTCH:

18

MEMBER STOCKING:

Yeah.

-- that's what the law says.
It's a little bit

19

different process, the adjudication process than what

20

we do.

21

not a recommendation process that we're engaging in.

22
23
24

I mean, it is a different thing because it's

MR. UNTCH:

Yeah.

You have to turn --

you would have to turn your hat on that, absolutely.
MEMBER STOCKING:

Yeah.

We're usually
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1

dealing with, you know, legal issues with attorneys

2

present because in some cases it's significant

3

financial --

4

MR. UNTCH:

5

MEMBER STOCKING:

6

Right.

certainly capable of doing it.

7

CHAIRMAN ROGERS:

8

MEMBER EVANS:

9

But I think we're

that they met?

Mim.

When is the last time

Have they been -- you said it had been

10

at one time a stretch of two years.

11

two years or --

12

MR. UNTCH:

No.

So was it the past

Over the last several

13

months, they've had -- we had a meeting that was

14

cancelled last night, but we did have a case last night

15

scheduled, and I think they have met a couple of -- the

16

past couple of months I think they have met.

So there

17

have been, you know, one case each meeting.

So they've

18

had some recent meetings.

19

MEMBER EVANS:

Do you see that as a

20

trend that is going to pick up again, or just that

21

every once in a while something comes along?

22

MR. UNTCH:

It's very difficult to read.

23

I know I've got it in my file here.

We went through

24

and went back through all the cases that have been
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heard.

2

requesting variation requests back when some of the

3

teardown/infill construction, home construction was

4

occurring; and the requests that seemed to be pretty

5

frequent was a situation where you've got this new

6

vacant lot that's been created, and a house is

7

proposed.

8
9

There seemed to be a flurry of activity

You might recall the teardown/infill zoning
regulations have the averaging setback requirement for

10

the front setback in relation to the two on either

11

side, two houses on either side, and there were some

12

situations that came up in some of the cases.

13

recall all of them, but I remember seeing some of them

14

where there would be an issue created by either a new

15

house being built, where that's placed in relation to

16

the setback and the two houses on either side, or if

17

someone wanted to add a porch or some addition to the

18

front of their house, it would create a conflict with

19

the setback, the averaging setback requirement.

20

I don't

I'm sure there are many other types of cases,

21

but those kind of stand out.

You know, why there was a

22

hiatus there for a while with no requests -- we do --

23

our staff in the building division, I think they do a

24

good job of walking through it.

If someone is thinking
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about a variation, we make sure they're looking at the

2

four variation standards to see if they can demonstrate

3

compliance with each of those standards.

4

I'm sure that there are some cases where

5

either Dustin Schultze or Eric Nelson have coached

6

someone to, you know, make sure that you really meet

7

all four standards.

8

want to proceed with the petition and try to figure out

9

another way to do your project.

10

If you can't, then you might not

So I think sometimes that kind of counseling

11

is helpful, and so that perhaps prevents some cases

12

from moving forward.

13

so different.

It just depends.

14

CHAIRMAN ROGERS:

15

MEMBER STEVENSON:

16

MR. DEGROOT:

18

MEMBER STEVENSON:

19

MR. DEGROOT:

23
24

David, do you

The ZBA meetings?
Yes.

We have started

preparing -MEMBER STEVENSON:

21
22

Ron.

participate in these now?

17

20

Each one can be

Are you doing the

case reviews?
MR. DEGROOT:

We have started preparing

some staff memorandums for the meetings, and I have
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been working with Dustin Schultze, the building

2

commissioner, on those.
There's occasionally times where I will be

3
4

involved in kind of that coaching session with the

5

applicant early on on a residential project, but not

6

always.

7

MR. UNTCH:

Dustin is the liaison.

The

8

building commissioner is the liaison to the ZBA right

9

now, but we try to put our heads together, when it's

10
11

necessary, to look at a particular request.
One thing I want to mention while we're

12

talking about this, I don't want to -- I don't want

13

this to come across as being a change that's being

14

prompted by the quality of the work of the Zoning Board

15

of Appeals, their dedication, their hard work.

16

We've got some folks on the ZBA that are

17

highly experienced, you know, at doing this.

18

Kaindl is here, and I don't know how many years Art has

19

been on the Zoning Board, but it's been a number of

20

years, and he has really dedicated himself to this

21

role, as have the other members of the ZBA.

22

others are also long-tenured on the group, and they

23

have clearly performed an exceptional job in their

24

roles as ZBA members.
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1

So this change should not be viewed in any

2

way as diminishing, you know, their role, their hard

3

work, their dedication to this voluntary job.

4

about making our processes and our review of these

5

matters as efficient, as timely, as cost-effective, and

6

as simple as we can make them, and that's why the

7

change is proposed.

8

CHAIRMAN ROGERS:

9

MEMBER CASE:

This is

Fred.

Just out of curiosity,

10

Dick, when the City Council directed your department to

11

come up with this plan, was the root of that decision

12

your department going to the City Council?
MEMBER UNTCH:

13
14

It really came from the

city administration.

15

MEMBER CASE:

16

MR. UNTCH:

Okay.

My department, our staff,

17

and Mary McKittrick, we had some conversations about

18

it, and we were looking at ways that we could be more

19

efficient and really manage our staff resources as best

20

as we could.

21

MEMBER CASE:

22

MR. UNTCH:

Okay.

And if we felt that once we

23

started looking at our staff situation and our work

24

demands and then looking at these two roles and what
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other municipalities have done, many others have done,

2

we started looking at this and saying, well, why

3

couldn't, you know, these two roles, the regular Plan

4

Commission -- traditional Plan Commission review role

5

and the Zoning Board of Appeals role, why couldn't they

6

be brought together and considered by one body.

7

that's how it evolved.
MEMBER CASE:

8
9

Okay.

So

Now, the cost --

you know, we talked about the cost impact to the

10

applicant.

What I'm wondering is if the Zoning Board

11

of Appeals meets so infrequently, most of the process

12

that goes through for coming before it, like our

13

Commission, it didn't seem to me that there would be

14

that much of a cost impact.

15

MR. UNTCH:

16

MEMBER CASE:

17
18

Well, the impact -Because they meet so

infrequently.
MR. UNTCH:

Right.

Sure.

Well, there

19

isn't that much of a cost impact, but, you know, I'm

20

told to leave no stone unturned and basically look for

21

every efficiency we can find.

22

MEMBER CASE:

23

MR. UNTCH:

24

we're selling it.

Right.

If it's not nailed down,

That's what the administration is
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doing.

2

these costs could be put on to the applicant, but the

3

question then becomes how much can the applicant

4

reasonably bear, particularly on a residential

5

variation petition for a relatively small project.

6

So, right, this is not big money, and some of

So we're kind of sensitive.

You know that's

7

why it's subsidized right now.

I mean, the city is

8

subsidizing -- when you incorporate staff time involved

9

in reviewing some of these matters, we're going way

10

beyond $400 of cost just for the outside services.

11

you know what I'm saying?

12

MEMBER CASE:

13

MEMBER UNTCH:

Do

Right.
So, you know, I think it

14

comes down to we've got a role to play, we're got

15

staff, we're here full-time or part-time, and so we

16

serve that function and all the citizens pay for that.

17
18

But you're right, it's not -- the cost
differential is not huge, but there is a cost.

19

MEMBER CASE:

Okay.

20

MEMBER STOCKING:

Thank you.

Dick, refresh my

21

memory, who is the enforcement officer for the city and

22

for the zoning ordinance?

23

MR. UNTCH:

24

Well, technically, the

zoning enforcement officer is Dustin Schultze, the
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1

building commissioner, and then, of course, Jim Forney

2

is our code enforcement officer.

3

supervision.

4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11

MEMBER STOCKING:

That's under his

So that's where the

appeals would be coming through for determination?
MR. UNTCH:

Typically, it would be

through the building commissioner, yes.
CHAIRMAN ROGERS:

Anything else?

Art, did you want to talk to us?
MR. KAINDL:

Yep.

I'll take the last 10 minutes.

Arthur

12

Kaindl, I live at 2508 Kaneville Road, Unit 303, in

13

Geneva, and I'm speaking tonight against the combining

14

of the Plan Commission and the ZBA.

15

These two committees are entirely different

16

in purpose and methods.

The Plan Commission is part of

17

the Community Development Department and it answers to

18

and reports to the City Council.

19

go to the committee as a whole and then on to the City

20

Council, which just figuring out, 2 1/2 weeks from the

21

date of a meeting of the Plan Commission to the final

22

acceptance by the City Council.

23

who has a problem that requires the Plan Commission.

24

The Zoning Board of Appeals, I hate to say

All of your actions

That's for somebody
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1

it, but, by golly, most of our meetings are over in a

2

half an hour.

3

the applicant can make all of these four different

4

requirements, he is not coming before us; and for that

5

reason, we don't have too many meetings.

6

The rules are so stringent that unless

So if an applicant feels that he can meet

7

these stringent requirements both by the city and the

8

State of Illinois -- the state is the big kahuna in

9

this, and they have established the Zoning Board of

10
11

Appeals requirements for approval.
Now, the PUD -- relatively, you review new

12

subdivisions and PUDs, and that is just about

13

100 percent of your operation.

14

Appeals only goes to the zoning ordinance and makes

15

sure that all of the zoning ordinance is correct -- is

16

applicable.

17

The Zoning Board of

In the suggested areas of zoning, you do both

18

residential and areas.

19

different colors.

20

applications from commercial to residential,

21

industrial.

22

last time it was revised was November 3rd of 1997.

23
24

Now, you gave me a map,

This is all of the different zoning

I know this is a very pretty map, but the

So this is what we look at, and we count very
heavily on the zoning commissioner, and we work very
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1

closely with him.

The fact that we don't have meetings

2

has nothing to do with the fact that we are -- the

3

Zoning Board of Appeals is acting when somebody

4

requires our help, and that's the only thing -- the

5

only reason for us.
The members are appointed by the Council.

6

As

7

of this time, there are five of the seven members that

8

are seated.

One has not been replaced because he

9

passed away.

Another one has recently retired.

So we

10

are down -- our quorum now to conduct a meeting is

11

three.

12

make it, so we did not have a quorum.

13

has been sent over to the next available meeting in

14

December.

Yesterday evening, two of our members could not
So that meeting

Now, contrary to what was established, the

15
16

Zoning Board of Appeals on the 1st of January

17

establishes a calendar for meetings which are twice a

18

month, twice a month, just like yours, and it is the

19

second and fourth Wednesday of the month at

20

7:00 o'clock.
That is a calendar that is given to every

21
22

member of the committee; and by them accepting it, they

23

say if I am called, I will work.

24

story.

So that is their
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We have a lot of staff advisors.

1
2

very good.

3

people.

4

Zoning Board -- oh, and incidentally, every member of

5

the Zoning Board of Appeals gets a copy of this, which

6

we hope is brought up-to-date, and the only way it's

7

brought up-to-date is if the city approves a revision

8

in there, and then we rely on the city to update our

9

books.

10

He looks over the plans.

Dustin is

He talks to these

If they try to go with what is not in the

Every member knows that they have got to read

11

this thing from cover to cover to know exactly what's

12

coming up.

13

never use because it's never -- we don't have cases

14

that come up on it.

15

Sometimes they read stuff that they will

A lot of it -- most of it is residential, and

16

the residential is the action that the individual

17

homeowner has with the governmental body, and it starts

18

off when he brings a plan in.

19

the code, then Dustin does an awful lot of work with

20

these people to try and help them make a revision or

21

such that can do it.

22

If the plan doesn't meet

Also, members of the Zoning Board of Appeals

23

at that particular meeting when the man comes up or the

24

person comes up -- in one case that I know of for
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1

really sure by talking to the person, he redesigned his

2

garage and that saved cutting down two 50-year-old

3

trees and moving one utility pole that's in the

4

parkway.

5

individual property owner because we realize he has a

6

financial call for what he has and he is trying to

7

improve his property.

That's what he is doing.

Our duties are to review the applicant's

8
9

That's our ideal of trying to help the

suggestions and the reasons for his variation that he

10

wants it.

11

four requirements that must -- and you can't have three

12

out of four.

13

otherwise it's a no go.

14

decisions, his next application is to the Appellate

15

Court of Kane County.

16

He doesn't -- and he is well aware of the

You have to have four out of four,
If he doesn't like our

I have been on the ZBA since 1988.

God, I

17

don't look that old, do I?

18

there has been only one case where the applicant didn't

19

like what we were doing, and we gave him the reasons

20

why and everything else.

21

a wonderful thing when the sheriff comes to your door

22

and hands you a subpoena and says, okay, the case is

23

coming up.

24

But in all of that time,

He went to court.

Now, it's

Fortunately, the applicant looked into it in
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more detail and backed off.

So there was never a case

2

where it has finally gone to a Judge, and that is --

3

well, since 1988, and that's pretty good.
We have had a few places where we have told

4
5

an applicant that, no, you can't do it.

One of them

6

was a relative of a very important person in town, and

7

we said you can't add on to your garage because -- add

8

to your driveway to your garage because you're going to

9

encroach on your neighbor's sunlight and thing.
So what he did is he built a smaller garage,

10
11

did not have an entrance from the street, but he put

12

his Corvette on a lift and would slide it into this

13

skinny garage.

14

sort of helped him and gave him the idea of why don't

15

you build a narrower garage just for the width of your

16

Corvette.

17

So that was one of the cases where we

He did, and that's going today.

It happens.

You've also seen this, haven't you?

The

18

letter from Dick to Mayor Burns and members of the

19

Council relative to why we should, and Dick went over

20

that tonight.

21

In that it says we only meet once a month.

22

We schedule twice a month.

Whether we meet as

23

required -- and meetings are at the call of the Chair.

24

So that's one of the things that we do that is trying
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1

to do our duty.

We have seven members, and we have had

2

them for a long time, and they are very -- in their

3

private operations, they are very, very well versed at

4

what they do.
Basically, like I say, and I don't want to

5
6

bore you with anything, but we are two different

7

organizations.

8

people.

9

being appealed and make our judgment according to four

10
11

One sets the zoning ordinance, you

The second is we look at the zoning ordinance

definite and mandatory operations.
So we are independent of the city, the

12

township, the county; and when we make a decision, it

13

is sent off to the recorder of deeds also because a lot

14

of times it will affect the setback of the property.

15

The reason for that is a person sells his property, and

16

there's no application from the Zoning Board of Appeals

17

to change it is that it will be coming up on that man's

18

deed that there is an encroachment, and unless he fixes

19

that up, he can't sell his property properly.

20

So we have indicated that on our application

21

and on our further actions, which incidentally we

22

can -- we're out of there in a half an hour.

23

know how long you people, but I've been at a meeting

24

here where it was adjourned at 10:00 o'clock and taken

Chicago-area Realtime Reporters, Ltd.
800.232.0265 - Chicago-Realtime.com

I don't

REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS -- 11/14/2013
32
1

up later on.

2

doesn't.
Are there any questions that I can help you

3
4

So he either gets it right now or he

with?

5

CHAIRMAN ROGERS:

6

MR. KAINDL:

7

CHAIRMAN ROGERS:

8

MEMBER STEVENSON:

9

Questions for Art?

God, am I that clear?
I think so.
Art, it sounds like

you're doing a lot of almost engineering in the ZBA.

10

Am I misreading what you've said?

11

working with people to fit these requirements.
MR. KAINDL:

12

You've talked about

There's a couple of

13

engineers on the Board.

There is also somebody who is

14

extremely competent as far as zoning and construction

15

and things of that nature.

16

registered engineer, and since I don't practice

17

anymore, I gave up my license, but it's still up here.

I myself have been a

We do try to help the homeowner, and the

18
19

first step is at the building department because if you

20

can get out of the building department without spending

21

$150 for a meeting, that's wonderful, and he is happy,

22

we're happy, and we have done our job.
CHAIRMAN ROGERS:

23
24

Any other questions

for Art?
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Thank you very much, Art.

1

MR. KAINDL:

2

So what I'm asking is maybe

3

when you're going to vote on whether or not to make

4

these changes in the zoning ordinance, I'd ask you to

5

vote no.

6
7
8
9

CHAIRMAN ROGERS:

Okay.

Thank you.

Dick.
MR. UNTCH:

If I might add, just to make

sure that things are clear in your memo that you have

10

on this matter, we have outlined the changes that would

11

be required to Title 11 in the zoning ordinance, and

12

you'll see where the terminology is basically a

13

delete-and-rename kind of exercise, where the Zoning

14

Board of Appeals and Plan Commission is replaced by

15

Planning and Zoning Commission.

16

Like on page 5 of your memo, where there's a

17

listing there of the duties and responsibilities of

18

what would be the new Planning and Zoning Commission,

19

Items No. 6 and 7 there are added to what would be Plan

20

Commission responsibilities to encompass the ZBA review

21

authority in the areas of variations and appeals.

22

Then you'll see how a lot of those is kind of

23

a cut-and-paste exercise involving terminology.

24

page 7 of your memo, under Title 3, Boards and
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1

Commissions, which is in the city code, not the zoning

2

ordinance, you see the change there from the nine to

3

seven members that would be required.

4

Then finally I'd just point out on page 8

5

near the bottom of the page a whole section that deals

6

with the Zoning Board of Appeals obviously is struck

7

out; and then on that final page 9, you can see all of

8

the various sections of not only the zoning ordinance

9

but also various sections of the city code where

10
11

terminology needs to be switched around.
We didn't put all those pages in here,

12

otherwise we would have had 50 pages of text.

13

tried to simplify that a little bit because at that

14

point it's really just word replacement or deleting and

15

renaming the use of the terminology.

16

point that out.

17
18
19

CHAIRMAN ROGERS:

So we

So I just want to

Thank you.

Any other questions or comments?
MEMBER STEVENSON:

Dick, I'll ask this

20

question of you about the skill sets of people on this

21

board and what skill sets do you think are required

22

that would be different than what we've been doing in

23

our roles on the Planning Commission?

24

MR. UNTCH:

Well, that's a good
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1

question.

2

advisory commission is that it's not so much the

3

specific skill sets as it is the level of effort that's

4

put in by the commissioner to learn that section of the

5

code or to learn their responsibilities and duties to a

6

point where they can apply them, whether it's a

7

standard or a set of principles, to the specific case.

8
9

I think that -- my own feeling about any

I'd like to think that a dedicated person
irregardless of their background could actually do the

10

work of a plan commission or a zoning board of appeals.

11

Sometimes the skills or a background in planning or

12

engineering can be helpful, but I don't believe you

13

have to be a technical person to be an effective

14

commissioner, so. . .
MEMBER STEVENSON:

15

It sounds like they

16

work a lot closer to the process than we do.

17

thought -- if I understood what Art said.

18

like he gets involved with the applicant and kind of

19

guides them along, almost acting as an extension of the

20

building department.

21

MR. UNTCH:

22

MEMBER STEVENSON:

I

It sounds

Uh-huh.
I think much more

23

than we do.

We kind of get involved toward the back

24

end of the process and after they have worked
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1

extensively with you and Dave and your staff.

2

MR. UNTCH:

3

MEMBER STEVENSON:

4

Well, I'll tell you -Am I understanding

that correctly, or did I misunderstand that?
MR. UNTCH:

5

The charge of the Zoning

6

Board of Appeals basically is focused on the four

7

variation standards as well as consideration of the

8

appeals of the zoning officer's determinations.

9

Those four standards are very clear.

The

10

first one, and the way the ordinance reads:

Zoning

11

Board of Appeals may approve a variation if the

12

applicant presents evidence at the public hearing

13

establishing compliance with each of the following

14

standards:

15

Standard 1, reasonable return -- the property

16

in question cannot yield a reasonable return if it's to

17

be permitted to be used only under the regulations of

18

the district in which it is located.

19

So there is some factor involved in there

20

that says if you apply the zoning ordinance, the

21

property owner can't get a reasonable return, a

22

reasonable value for his property, and sometimes you

23

can translate that into reasonable use.

24

reasonable use of the property if a strict application
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1

of the zoning standard applies.

So they've got to make

2

a determination that there's some impediment there to

3

reasonable return.
The second one, Unique hardship or practical

4
5

difficulty -- the shape, topography, or other

6

conditions of the land is such that it is extremely

7

difficult to comply with the regulations generally

8

applicable to the property.
This is the one that's kind of tough.

9

It's a

10

tough standard.

11

now.

12

land, so that tends to focus on slope conditions, weird

13

lot geometry, constricted sizes of lots, different

14

relationships of the lot to the street, the street

15

right-of-way, maybe a narrow frontage.

16

narrowly defined standard, and every applicant has to

17

address that.

18

You've got to meet all four of these

The shape, topography, or other conditions of the

A pretty

Character of the area -- the applicant must

19

show that the variation requested will not materially,

20

detrimentally -- materially detrimental to the public

21

welfare or materially injurious to the enjoyment, use,

22

or development of property, or improvements permitted

23

in the vicinity.

24

consistent with the character of the area, whatever is

Long story short, it's got to be
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1
2

proposed.
The fourth standard is minimum variation --

3

any variation considered by the Zoning Board of Appeals

4

shall consider the minimum variation necessary for the

5

reasonable use of the land.

6

So what these four standards really say is

7

you've got to have some pretty exceptional

8

circumstances present to be granted the variation.

9

in my mind, it's less about negotiation with the

So

10

property owner and more about measuring up to these

11

four standards, and it's up to the determination of the

12

board or that commission as to whether those four

13

standards are met.

14

You know, much the way you're looking at

15

special use requests or zoning requests where you've

16

got standards that you're using and you're making a

17

fact finding, it's really the same thing.

18

the standards are a little bit different.

19

MEMBER STEVENSON:

It's just

Well, it sounds to me

20

like there's -- you know, that process, the majority of

21

that interactive process is going to take place with

22

the city team, and we're going to be --

23

MR. UNTCH:

Yeah, the staff.

24

MEMBER STEVENSON:

-- just like we are
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1

at the Plan Commission.

We're not the front line --

2

MEMBER UNTCH:

Yeah.

3

MEMBER STEVENSON:

It really comes --

-- taking on the

4

day-to-day interaction with an applicant and giving

5

them engineering ideas and ways to work around this and

6

making those judgments.

7

majority of those, and they're going to give us the

8

recommendations, and we're going to say yes or no.

They're going to make the

MR. UNTCH:

9

Yeah.

I mean, we will

10

always do a staff report on each case, you know, as we

11

have done with the Plan Commission.

12

continue.

13

So that would

I would like to think that the variation

14

requests that are presented are presented, you know,

15

where the applicant applies because they have worked

16

through things with Dustin and they've reached a point

17

where they can't make it work.

18

of the variation, as these four standards indicate,

19

can't be based on a simple desire for that applicant.

20

You know, they want a particular thing, and it can't be

21

based on that.
MEMBER STEVENSON:

22
23
24

But the actual granting

It's more

quantifiable.
MR. UNTCH:

Well it --
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MEMBER STEVENSON:

1
2

It sounds like it's

more specific than what we do.
MR. UNTCH:

3

Maybe a little bit more

4

specific and it focuses more directly on those first

5

two standards, being able to get reasonable return or

6

reasonable use of your property.

7

reasonable use or return on your property if the strict

8

standard of the zoning regulation is applied to the

9

property, that setback requirement or that lot coverage

By not getting

10

requirement, or there's a really unique condition

11

that's not otherwise present on properties in the area

12

that are similarly zoned.

You know, what I'm saying?

13

MEMBER STEVENSON:

14

MR. UNTCH:

Yes.

Those are the two standards

15

that are tough ones to meet, and it's a matter of

16

judging that on each case -- case-by-case.

17

CHAIRMAN ROGERS:

18

MEMBER MEAD:

Any other questions?

The Zoning Board of

19

Appeals also holds public hearings then?

20

MR. UNTCH:

21
22

It's a public hearing

format.
MEMBER MEAD:

Similar to the format we

23

have, and it then gets closed and voted on typically at

24

that time, or is there a bifurcated process like we
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1

have?

2

MR. UNTCH:

Typically --

3

MR. KAINDL:

4

MR. UNTCH:

5

MR. KAINDL:

Can I answer that?
Sure.
The Zoning Board at the end

6

of all presentations and comments by the members of the

7

Board will ask for a public vote on it at that time,

8

and a decision is rendered on that vote at that

9

particular time and meeting.
MR. UNTCH:

10
11

Yeah.

They typically don't

bifurcate.

12

MR. MEAD:

13

MR. UNTCH:

Okay.
But, again, that's the call

14

of the Chair and of the group.

15

need to do more fact finding beyond that one night,

16

you're certainly entitled to do it.

17

MEMBER MEAD:

You know, if you would

Right.

But the nature of

18

the four criteria seem to be that it would allow you to

19

come to a conclusion, I think.

20

black and white.

21

MR. UNTCH:

It's going to be more

I think that's true.

I

22

think in a lot of cases it is more black and white,

23

and, you know, as a part of the consideration of the

24

Zoning Board, you're making that finding on each of
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1

those four standards and making that part of the

2

record.

3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13

CHAIRMAN ROGERS:

Anything else?

(No response.)
CHAIRMAN ROGERS:

If not, are we ready

to close the hearing?
MEMBER MEAD:

Mr. Chairman, I recommend

we close the public hearing.
MEMBER CASE:

Second.

CHAIRMAN ROGERS:

Moved and seconded.

All in favor.
(Ayes heard.)
CHAIRMAN ROGERS:

Opposed.

14

(No response.)

15

PROCEEDINGS CONCLUDED AT 8:12 P.M.

16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
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STATE OF ILLINOIS

2

COUNTY OF K A N E

)
) SS.
)

3
4

I, JOANNE E. ELY, Certified Shorthand

5

Reporter No. 84-4169, CSR, RPR, and a Notary

6

Public in and for the County of Kane, State of

7

Illinois, do hereby certify that I reported in

8

shorthand the proceedings had in the

9

above-entitled matter and that the foregoing is a

10

true, correct, and complete transcript of my

11

shorthand notes so taken as aforesaid.

12

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF I have hereunto set my

13

hand and affixed my Notarial Seal this 18th day of

14

November, 2013.

15
16
17

_____________________________
Certified Shorthand Reporter
Registered Professional Reporter

18
19
20
21

My commission expires
May 16, 2016

22
23
24
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PLAN COMMISSION MINUTES
City of Geneva
109 James Street - City Council Chambers
Meeting #1140 – December 12, 2013
Chairman Rogers called the Plan Commission meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. Roll call followed:
Present:

Commissioners Erickson,
Chairman Rogers

Absent:

Commissioners Case

Evans,

Leidig,

Mead,

Stevenson,

Stocking,

Others Present: Community Development Dir. Dick Untch; Planner David DeGroot; Recording
Secretary Celeste Weilandt
Public Present: Zoning Board of Appeals Chairman Art Kaindl
________________________________________________________________________________
Approval of the November 14, 2013 Meeting Minutes
Minutes of the November 14, 2013 meeting were approved on motion by Commissioner Leidig,
seconded by Commissioner Evans. Motion carried by voice vote of 6-0-1 (Erickson abstains).
Review and Recommendation Session (Public Hearing held on 11/14/2013)
Text Amendments - Request for amendments to the applicable section of Title 11 (Zoning
Ordinance) and Title 12 (Subdivisions) of the Geneva City Code related to the consolidation of
the Zoning Board of Appeals and Plan Commission so that the duties and obligations of the
Zoning Board of Appeals be carried out by the Plan Commission.
Planner DeGroot recalled the discussion from last month included the public hearing, commissioner
comments on the reduction of members from 9 to 7, and concerns about the final authority on
variations. He opened it up for committee discussion.
Commissioner comments followed that the statute dictated the membership number, combining both
bodies allowed for an efficient process for city functions, and it was a simpler process for the
applicants. Per a question as to any new insight since the last meeting, DeGroot added that he has
been working with Building Commissioner Dustin Schultze on a few of the past applications to
prepare similar staff reports but has not participated in the last few variation requests. Dir. Untch
discussed some of the challenges he and DeGroot saw going from 9 to 7 members and what it might
mean, such as having two less perspectives or meeting quorum but he also reflected upon the fact
that the city has a very good amount of staff support to review the projects that come before the
commissioners, which was an added benefit.
Asked if there was a limit of legal or monetary responsibility to the members should a zoning appeal
be forwarded to the courts, Dir. Untch explained that the city’s insurance would be used for that
purpose. However, he emphasized that it would be important for the commissioners to thoroughly
address the four standards during the hearing discussion and carefully review and discuss the fact
finding portion of any appeal or variation request. Additionally, he pointed out that the commissioners
were similarly reviewing certain variations such as subdivision variations and sign variations, but in a
recommending mode. Most of the zoning cases coming before the commission would be residential
in nature.
Responding to the above question, ZBA Chairman, Art Kaindl, explained the process that follows a
legal appeal. He confirmed that the majority of the cases are residential in nature.
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Other comments followed that some commissioners did not favor the reduction in membership; the
reduction diluted the diversity of perspectives; and that given the few times the Zoning Board has
been called upon to act negated the amount of benefit to the community and did not justify or offset
reducing the size of the Plan Commission members from 9 to 7. Contrarily, other comments followed
that sometimes by keeping the group smaller, it was easier to reach consensus and that having
generalists on the commission was beneficial than having amateur planners.
Commissioner Erickson moved to approve request for amendments to the applicable section
of Title 11 (Zoning Ordinance) and Title 12 (Subdivisions) of the Geneva City Code related to
the consolidation of the Zoning Board of Appeals and Plan Commission so that the duties and
obligations of the Zoning Board of Appeals be carried out by the Plan Commission. Seconded
by Commissioner Mead??
Aye:
Nay:

Erickson, Leidig, Stevenson, Stocking, Rogers
Evans, Mead
MOTION PASSED. VOTE: 5-2

Chairman Rogers encouraged the City Council to consider the comments made by Commissioners
Evans and Mead. Staff expected this topic to be discussed at the next Committee of the Whole
meeting scheduled for January 13, 2014.
Public Comment - None
Other Business - Mr. DeGroot provided updates on the following: the sign variation for Past Basket
was approved; a new sign variation request was received from The Country House; and staff received
an application for a preliminary/final PUD for First Baptist Church on Peck Road for a west campus
addition. Dir. Untch reported that the city received a technical assistance grant from the RTA for a
zoning ordinance update on the City’s downtown master plan. Details followed. Lastly, DeGroot
announced that a redesign of the city’s web site has recently taken place and easier options were now
available to the public.
As a consideration for the consolidation of the Zoning Board with the Plan Commission,
Commissioner Erickson suggested that those commissioners go before the mayor indicating their
interest in resigning and then letting staff determine the membership of new Planning and Zoning
Commission and whether it wants to add a couple of ZBA board members. Commissioners supported
the suggestion.
Chairman Rogers announced Happy Holidays to all.
Adjournment
The meeting was adjourned at 7:35 p.m. on motion by Commissioner Evans.
unanimously.

Motion carried

